FILED Court of Appeals STATE OF WASHINGTON Division III State of Washington 3/2/2023 4:39 PM No. 101771-5 SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 383644 COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MADISON EVANS, individually, and as guardian ad litem of R.A.C., a minor child,

Petitioners,

v.

ZACHARY M. FIRL and JANE DOE FIRL, and the marital community composed thereof,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVIS LAW GROUP, PS

By: Christopher M. Davis, WSBA #23234 Deborah Purcell, WSBA #32215 Attorneys for Petitioners

STRITMATTER KESSLER **KOEHLER MOORE**

FILED

SUPREME COURT

3/3/2023

BY ERIN L. LENNON

CLERK

By: Shannon M. Kilpatrick, WSBA #41495

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in using the CR 50 substantial evidence analysis to decide if a trial court abused its discretion in denying a CR 60(b)(1) motion to vacate the noneconomic damages portion of a default judgment for lack of sufficient evidence?

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding the noneconomic damages portion of the default judgment should be vacated because Plaintiffs provided no direct testimony about the appropriate amount of Plaintiffs' noneconomic damages?

4

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. R.A.C. suffered serious injuries after a dog attack.

In January 2019 Petitioners Madison Evans and her twoyear-old son, R.A.C., visited Zachary Firl in South Cle Elum, WA for a playdate. CP at 2; CP 46 ¶4.² While R.A.C. was on the bed watching a movie, Firl's German Shepard Dog "Grizzly" jumped on the bed and "attacked" R.A.C., biting his face and pulling him from the bed. CP 2; CP 46 ¶4; CP 34 ¶5. Police were called. CP 45 ¶4; CP 46 ¶3. R.A.C. suffered significant face wounds requiring emergency care, hospitalization, and likely future scar revision surgery. CP 2, 22, 46-47.

 $^{^2}$ In the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in Support of Entry of Default Judgment, the trial court found that all of the allegations in Plaintiffs' Complaint were true. CP 45, ¶7.

B. Negotiations failed, and Plaintiffs filed suit.

In the beginning of 2020, Plaintiffs and Allstate, Firl's insurer, exchanged settlement offers. The offers were far apart, and negotiations quickly stalled. *See* CP 82.

Plaintiffs sued and sent it out for service on Firl.³ On July 25, 2020, the process server affirmed under penalty of perjury he personally served Firl at home on Saturday July 25, 2020 at 3:28 pm. CP 9-10; *see also* CP 45 ¶3; RP at 29: 8-10. Plaintiffs then filed the lawsuit in Kittitas County Superior Court on August 11, 2020. CP 1, 45 ¶1.

C. After Firl failed to appear, Plaintiffs moved for an order of default and eventually a default judgment.

Plaintiffs moved for an order of default, and on September 28, the trial court granted Plaintiffs' motion. CP 11-15, 19, 46. Three months later, Plaintiff moved for entry of default judgment. CP 21-24. In support of that motion,

³ RCW 4.28.020 allows a lawsuit to be initiated in multiple ways, including "by service of summons."

Plaintiffs provided the declarations of two physicians: (1) plastic surgeon Bradley Remington, MD, regarding the future scar revision surgery needed by R.A.C., CP 31-32, and (2) Lynne Freeman, M.D., a board-certified Internal Medicine physician who discussed R.A.C.'s injuries and how they were received, and opined all R.A.C.'s injuries, treatment, and medical bills were reasonable and related to the dog attack, CP 33-36.

Dr. Freeman testified that R.A.C.'s injuries resulted from a dog bite to his face, including "substantial facial laceration[s]," "Cellulitis of Face," "Open bite of Nose," "Open bite of right cheek and temporomandibular area," "Open bite of lip," "Open bite of other part of head," and "Localized swelling, mass and lump, head." CP 34-35. Dr. Freeman noted that the injuries required two days of care at Kittitas Valley Hospital and another four days at Seattle Children's Hospital. CP 34 ¶5, 35:13-19. Dr. Remington testified that R.A.C. will likely need scar revision surgery, but even still he would have permanent scarring on his face. CP 32 ¶7.

Plaintiffs also provided information about six other settlements in dog attack cases, including a brief description of the facts, medical care received, medical expenses, and settlement amount. CP 27-30. Those settlements ranged from \$180,000 to \$1,000,000. CP 28-29.

Given the severity of his injuries, treatment required, and his young age, the value of R.A.C.'s injuries was estimated to be on the high side of the range provided. CP 29 ¶11.

Though the hearing on the motion for entry of default judgment was set for January 27, 2021, the judge struck the hearing when Plaintiff's counsel did not show. CP 41, RP at 5. The superior court issued no order that day, other than to strike the hearing, nor did it enter any judgment. *See* CP 41.

There are several documents noted elsewhere in the pleadings but are not in the record: the Declaration of Madison

Evans, the exhibits to the Declaration of Maridith Ramsey, the exhibits to the Declaration of Dr. Remington, and the exhibits to the Declaration of Dr. Freeman. CP 23:1-7.

D. The trial court entered a default judgment.

The court entered judgment on February 1, 2021 for \$834,567.54 plus statutory attorney fees and costs. CP 42-43, 48 ¶¶ 14, 16. The trial court also entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. CP 44-48.

Of the amount, \$50,000 was for Madison Evans, R.A.C.'s mother, for her past and future loss of consortium claim, CP 47-48 ¶13, \$500,000 was for R.A.C.'s past noneconomic damages, CP 47 ¶11, and \$250,000 for future noneconomic damages over his 78.43-year life expectancy, CP 47 ¶12. The remaining amount was for R.A.C.'s past and future medical expenses. CP 47 ¶¶ 9-10.

E. The trial court denied Defendant's motion to vacate the judgment.

On June 23, 2021, Defendant moved to vacate the judgment under CR 60(b)(1), (b)(5), and (b)(11). CP 52-59.

Defendant argued the default judgment was void because he was not personally served. CP 56. Defendant also argued the judgment should be set aside under either CR 60(b)(1) due to mistake, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect or irregularity in obtaining a judgment or order, or CR 60(b)(11) for another "reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment." CP 56-58. Finally, Defendant argued that the court should vacate the damages portion to allow a jury to determine damages. CP 58.

At the evidentiary hearing, the trial court heard evidence from Defendant and argument from both counsel. RP at 6-32. The court ultimately denied the Defendant's motion, ruling the Defendant did not show he was not served by clear and convincing evidence. RP at 29-30. The court also noted the Firl's problem with timeliness:

> Plus, if he found out about it right away, why didn't they file it immediately even if they couldn't get to court? Just file something saying, you know, motion -- some kind of a motion and then try to work with

the court administrator to see what [hearing date] you can get.

RP 30:2-6.

In the written order, the court ruled: "The defendant has not proved that service did not occur by any burden of proof. The court finds no other equitable grounds on which to vacate the default or void the judgment." CP 123.

F. Division III held the trial court abused its discretion in denying the Defendant's motion to vacate.

Firl appealed, and in a published opinion, Division III held the trial court abused its discretion in denying Defendant's CR 60(b)(1) motion to vacate as to noneconomic damages because Plaintiffs' evidence supporting the noneconomic damages portion of the default judgment was legally insufficient. App'x, at 12 ¶66. It reversed the award of noneconomic damages and affirmed the trial court in all other respects, including the judgment as to liability and special damages. App'x, at 12 ¶67. Noting the burden was on the Plaintiffs to present sufficient evidence to support a damages award, Division III held that Plaintiffs failed to provide substantial evidence supporting the noneconomic damages amount. App'x, at 11 ¶64. It characterized the evidence—incorrectly —this way:

The only evidence presented in support of the \$800,000 noneconomic damages award was evidence that R.A.C. incurred \$26,067.79 in medical expenses, the toddler was a candidate for scar revision surgery at a cost of \$8,500.00 to \$10,000.00, and skeletal hearsay information about six settlements allegedly negotiated by R.A.C.'s lawyers for other clients with dog bit injuries.

Id. Division III specifically noted that "No witness provided an

explanation why \$750,000 and \$50,000 would be reasonable

measures of R.A.C.'s and Ms. Evans's noneconomic damages."

App'x, at 12 ¶65.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This Court will accept a petition for review in these narrow circumstances relevant here: "If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court," or "If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(1), RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court could accept review under either prong of RAP 13.4(b).

This case touches on issues of substantial public interest. Division III decided the appropriate analysis to use was the CR 50 substantial evidence standard ordinarily used by courts for motions for judgment as a matter of law following a jury verdict. Yet practically speaking, it applied a more rigorous test. It did not credit all the evidence presented and did not take inferences most strongly in favor of Plaintiffs. It found notable that no witness testified about why the noneconomic damages amount was a reasonable measure of the Plaintiffs' damages.

As a result, Division III's analysis sows confusion with the substantial evidence analysis, including for purposes of CR 50, CR 55, and CR 60(b)(1). Those rules implicate how courts analyze whether a jury verdict should be taken away and the entry of default judgments, which are issues of "substantial public interest" that this Court should determine. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Further, Division III's discussion of the evidence required to meet the substantial evidence standard conflicts with this Court's statements about what is required to prove noneconomic damages. It focused on the lack of witness testimony to "provide[] an explanation why \$750,000 and \$50,000 would be reasonable measures of [Plaintiffs'] noneconomic damages" as a reason to reverse. Evans, 523 P.3d at 883 ¶65. This assertion contradicts this Court's statements that general damages cannot be fixed with mathematical certainty and "there need be no evidence which assigns an actual dollar value to the injury." Rasor v. Retail Credit Co., 87 Wn.2d 516, 531, 554 P.2d 1041 (1976) (quoting Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc., 418 U.S. 323, 350, 94 S. Ct. 2997, 3012, 41 L. Ed. 2d 789 (1974)). Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) to clarify witness testimony about the amount of noneconomic damages is not a requirement.

This Court should accept review, reverse the Court of

Appeals, and reinstate the default judgment.

A. The Court of Appeals' decision to use the substantial evidence standard from CR 50 and its application of that standard have implications far beyond this case.

Under CR 60(b)(1), a party may move for relief from

judgment for "[m]istake, inadvertence, surprise, excusable

neglect, or irregularity in obtaining a judgment or order." This

Court developed a four-part test to determine whether a

defendant is entitled to relief of the judgment:

(1) that there is substantial evidence supporting a prima facie defense; (2) that the failure to timely appear and answer was due to mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; (3) that the defendant acted with due diligence after notice of the default judgment; and (4) that the plaintiff will not suffer a substantial hardship if the default judgment is vacated.

Little v. King, 160 Wn.2d 696, 703-04, 161 P.3d 345 (2007).

Factors (1) and (2) are the most important, while factors (3) and

(4) are secondary. White v. Holm, 73 Wn.2d 348, 352, 438 P.2d

581 (1968). If the defendant "is able to demonstrate a strong or

virtually conclusive defense" to the plaintiff's claims, then factors (3) and (4) become unimportant. *Id*. An important caveat to that statement, though, is that the moving party "is timely with his application." *Id*.

In looking at the first factor, the prima facie defense, the Court of Appeals noted that when a defaulting party can demonstrate legally insufficient evidence to support the award of noneconomic damages in the default judgment, "its defense can be fairly characterized as conclusive," and "[t]he more conclusively a defense can be shown, the more readily the court will vacate the default judgment." *Evans*, 523 P.3d at 881 ¶50. Division III characterized Firl's challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the default judgment as "a conclusive defense." Evans, 523 P.3d at 883 ¶66.

In its analysis, Division III looked to Division I's decision in *Shepard Ambulance, Inc. v. Helsell, Fetterman, Martin, Todd & Hokanson*, 95 Wn. App. 231, 974 P.2d 1275 (1999). That case was the first that applied the substantial evidence standard to an argument that default judgment damages were excessive. *See Evans*, 523 P.3d at 879-80. As Division III explained it, the court in *Shepard Ambulance* looked to out of state case law and then analogized back to CR 50's standard for setting aside trial verdicts as the appropriate analysis for a CR 60(b)(1) challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence supporting a default judgment amount. *Id.* at 880. Thus, Division III incorporated into its analysis the substantial evidence standard used in other contexts.

The Court of Appeals then noted that substantial evidence is evidence "sufficient to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the declared premise." *Id.* at 880 (internal citation and quotations omitted). As for damages, evidence "is sufficient if it affords a reasonable basis for estimating the loss and does not subject the trier of fact to mere speculation or conjecture." *Id.* (internal citation and quotations omitted). Finally—and only in passing—the court observed that courts must "view the evidence and all inferences in favor of the nonmoving party." *Id.* at 880-81.

The problem here is that in reality CR 50 is much more protective of jury verdicts than Division III was with this default judgment, so while Division III paid lip service to some of the CR 50 standards, it did not follow them all and it failed to account for others.

For example, under CR 50, a motion "admits the truth of the evidence, and all inferences arising therefrom." *Miller v. Payless Drug Stores of Wash., Inc.*, 61 Wn.2d 651, 653, 379 P.2d 932 (1963). Similarly, while a default judgment does not admit any conclusions of law in the complaint or the amount of damages, the default "constitutes an admission of all factual allegations necessary to establish the plaintiff's claim for relief." *Smith v. Behr Process Corp.*, 113 Wn. App. 306, 333, 54 P.3d 665 (2002). Further, under CR 50 the evidence must be "interpreted most strongly against the moving party and most favorably to the opposing party." *Miller*, 61 Wn.2d at 653. The court's opinion briefly discusses some of the appropriate standards, but then does not appear to apply them. The Court of Appeals did not explain why it discussed only some of the evidence. It did not discuss any inferences and why or why they were not reasonable.

There are other important parts of the CR 50 analysis not mentioned by Division III here. For instance, "circumstantial evidence and direct evidence are equally reliable." *State v. Ainslie*, 103 Wn. App. 1, 6, 11 P.3d 318 (2000). And the appellate courts "defer to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence." *Id*.

The world of evidence considered by Division III in its opinion is much smaller than what was actually provided, which is contrary to the CR 50 analysis. The trial judge considered more than the court acknowledged. For example, a defendant admits the truth of all factual allegations from the complaint, CP 2, so we know:

- Firl owned Grizzly;
- Madison Evans and R.A.C. were at Firl's house.
- Grizzly got up on the bed where R.A.C was laying while watching a movie;
- Grizzly suddenly and without warning bit R.A.C. on his face and pulled him off the bed.
- Grizzly repeatedly bit R.A.C. on the fact, causing him severe injuries.

From Dr. Freeman's declaration, CP 34-35, we know:

- R.A.C. was taken to the emergency room at Kittitas Valley Hospital where he received two days of treatment.
- He was transferred to Seattle Children's Hospital, where he received four days of treatment.
- R.A.C. had substantial facial lacerations.

According to Dr. Freeman, CP 34-35, R.A.C.'s injuries were:

• "Cellulitis of Face,"

- "Open bite of Nose,"
- "Open bite of right cheek and temporomandibular area,"
- "Open bite of lip,"
- "Open bite of other part of head," and
- "Localized swelling, mass and lump, head."

Dr. Remington testified that even though scar revision surgery should provide significant improvement to his facial scarring, "some scarring will likely remain on the child's face," something he said was "permanent." CP 32.

Finally, the inferences that can reasonably be drawn from this evidence is more than Division III acknowledges. This Court has defined an inference "as a logical deduction or conclusion from an established fact." *Fannin v. Roe*, 62 Wn.2d 239, 242, 382 P.2d 264 (1963). Inferences should be drawn "after viewing the evidence as a whole." *State v. Jameison*, 4 Wn. App. 2d 184, 198, 421 P.3d 463 (2018). Division III has previously noted that to determine reasonable inferences, courts should use "logic, common sense, and experience in surmising additional or circumstantial facts from already established or direct facts." *Id.* at 197.

Logical conclusions can be drawn from the undisputed facts here:

- R.A.C. was about two years old at the time of this incident.
- Being bitten on the fact by a large German
 Shepard Dog is a painful, scary, and traumatic
 experience for a small child.
- Being bitten multiple times makes it worse.
- He suffered injuries serious enough he needed several days in the hospital, including something more specialized because he was sent to Seattle Children's Hospital, rather than stay at the local hospital.

- His face had multiple open wounds on it affecting his nose, right cheek, right jaw, lip, and other parts of his face.
- His scars are bad enough now that he is considered a candidate for scar revision surgery.
- Even if scar revision surgery goes well, he will still have permanent scarring on his face.
- Permanent means he must deal with visible scarring for the rest of his 78-year life expectancy.
- Noticeable scarring makes people self-conscious.
- R.A.C. is at an increased risk of bullying by peers at school or other places.
- Recovering from trauma experienced at such a young age is difficult.

Further, we know that Madison Evans was at the house when R.A.C was attacked by Grizzly. It is an easy inference that it would be traumatic for a mother to see her son with multiple open wounds on his face and it would bring up unpleasant memories every time she looked at his face and saw the scarring.

There is substantial evidence from which the trial court could conclude Plaintiffs' noneconomic damages would be significant. The facts and the inferences therefrom show that Plaintiffs are entitled to significant non-economic damages. The trial court found R.A.C was entitled to noneconomic damages for permanent, partial disability, pain, suffering, disfigurement, inconvenience, and loss of ability to enjoy life. CP 47. The court also found that Madison Evans is entitled to noneconomic damages for past and future loss of consortium of her son, including loss of fellowship emotional support, love, affection, companionship. *Id*.

Because the Division III ignored much of the evidence and inferences therefrom discussed above, its analysis creates confusion about what the substantial evidence analysis should look like. Had this judgment been a jury verdict, the result would have likely been different, and Division III would have

24

focused more on the appropriate standards deferring to the jury as the finder of fact, rather than the amount of general damages. As this Court has said before, it is not enough that a default judgment seems high: "[i]t is not a prima facie defense to damages that a defendant is surprised by the amount or that damages might have been less in a contested hearing." *Little*, 160 Wn.2d at 704.

B. The Court of Appeals' published opinion also imposes a higher burden on plaintiffs seeking a default judgment, which this Court should disavow.

The Court of Appeals here faulted Plaintiffs for not providing a witness to give "an explanation why \$750,000 and \$50,000 would be reasonable measures" of Plaintiffs' noneconomic damages. *Evans*, 523 P.3d at 883. This seemingly new requirement has never been required of plaintiffs in jury trials.

Noneconomic damages, unlike economic damages, "are not susceptible of precise measurement." 6 Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. Comment to WPI 30.06 (7th ed.). This Court has previously noted that noneconomic damages like suffering and humiliation that are personal to each individual does not require "evidence which assigns an actual dollar value to the injury" given the difficulty of proof. *Rasor*, 87 Wn.2d at 531.

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