FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/3/2023 1:33 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1017715

Court of Appeals No. 383644-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MADISON EVANS, individually, and as guardian ad litem of R.A.C., a minor child,

Petitioners,

v.

ZACHARY M. FIRL and JANE DOE FIRL, and the marital community composed thereof,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gavin W. Skok, WSBA #29766
Bryan J. Case, WSBA #41781
Jon S. Bogdanov, WSBA #52857
FOX ROTHSCHILD LLP
1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 4400
Seattle, Washington 98154
206.624.3600
gskok@foxrothschild.com
bcase@foxrothschild.com
ibogdanov@foxrothschild.com

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

III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Plaintiffs rely solely on RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4). Neither applies.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Harmonious with Supreme Court Precedent, Not in Conflict With It

Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) unless the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by this Court. Plaintiffs ignore that the Court of Appeals decision applied and is in line with *White* and *Little* (as well as Court of Appeals decisions). Instead, Plaintiffs argue the Court

of Appeals decision is in conflict with this Court's decision in *Rasor v. Retail Credit Co.*, 87 Wn.2d 516, 554 P.2d 1041 (1976) and creates some new requirement to prove noneconomic damages. Plaintiffs are wrong.

Plaintiffs misconstrue the Court of Appeals' decision to incorrectly suggest that it creates a new standard requiring general damages to be fixed with mathematical certainty and to be supported by witness testimony. The Court of Appeals required nothing of the sort.

Rather, the Court of Appeals readily acknowledged the inexact and discretionary nature of noneconomic damages, but correctly noted that a plaintiffs must still provide "sufficient evidence to support a damages award" to give it a "reasonable basis" rather than rely on "mere speculation or conjecture." *Evans*, 523 P.3d at 880, ¶48. The problem for Plaintiffs—as aptly explained by the Court of Appeals—was that they did not present sufficient evidence to provide that reasonable basis, engaging instead in speculation and conjecture. *Id.* at 883, ¶63-66.

In so holding, the Court of Appeals pointed out various failings in Plaintiffs' proffered evidence and gave illustrative examples how they could have carried their burden to support the damages award (e.g., witness testimony, actual jury verdicts, medical records, photos, etc.). *Id.* Plaintiffs incorrectly isolate and seize on the witness testimony example as though it were a new evidentiary requirement. The plain text of the Court of Appeals' decision created no such requirement, new or otherwise. Rather, the Court of Appeals merely said that witness testimony or medical records, photos, jury verdicts, or additional information about the settlements, etc., was one of many, non-exclusive ways a plaintiff can provide the "substantial evidence" *Little* requires to support a damages award in a default judgment. Id. Indeed, the Court of Appeals expressly acknowledged the well-established rule that "the party moving for a default judgment need only present substantial evidence" (Evans, 523 P.3d at 879, ¶44) and then applied that rule, noting "[i]t is not difficult to present legally sufficient evidence of bona fide noneconomic damages in an

uncontested default judgment hearing." *Id.* at 883, ¶66. Plaintiffs have only themselves to blame and are simply unhappy with the result the Court of Appeals reached after applying the correct rule of law.

Specifically, the Court of Appeals relied on and applied this Court's rule in *Little*, which plainly states: "[t]he amount of damages in a default judgment must be supported by substantial evidence." 160 Wn.2d 696, 704. The Court of Appeals also relied on Court of Appeals' precedent in *Shepard Ambulance*, *Inc. v. Helsell, Fetterman, Martin, Todd & Hokanson*, 95 Wn. App. 231, 974 P.2d 1275 (1999). Lastly, the Court of Appeals relied on and applied this well-settled law against the backdrop of the *White* factors and this Court's pronouncement in *Little* that the *White* factors/considerations "is not a mechanical test; whether or not a default judgment should be set aside is a matter of equity." *Evans*, 523 P.3d at 883, ¶63-66.

-

¹ This Court denied review in *Shepard Ambulance*. See Shepard Ambulance, Inc. v. Helsell, Fetterman, Martin, Todd & Hokanson, 140 Wn.2d 1007, 999 P.2d 1259 (2000) (denying review).

In Shepard, the Court of Appeals held that "the default award . . . could be vacated if there was not substantial evidence to support the award of damages." 95 Wn. App. at 242. It reached that conclusion by relying on the reasoning of Calhoun v. Merritt, 46 Wn. App. 616, 731 P.2d 1094 (1986) and held that "it would be inequitable and unjust to deny a motion to vacate the damages portion of the default judgment on the ground that the defendant failed to present a valid defense where the pain and suffering award warranted further discovery." Shepard, 95 Wn. App. at 241 (citing Calhoun, 46 Wn. App. at 620-21). *Shepard* further stated that for purposes of affirming a default judgment damages award, "[e]vidence is substantial if it is sufficient to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the declared premise." In *Little*, this Court cited *Shepard* in reiterating the maxim—applied by the Court of Appeals here—that "[t]he amount of damages in a default judgment must be supported by substantial evidence." *Id.* at 704.

The Court of Appeals here did not reach a decision or apply law in "conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court". It did the exact the opposite. It correctly relied on and applied *Little, White, Shepard*, and *Calhoun* to test the scant evidence Plaintiffs presented in support of their default judgment and concluded such evidence was not substantial enough to support the \$800,000 noneconomic damages award.

The Court of Appeals' well-reasoned decision in no way conflicts with this Court's holding in *Rasor*. *Rasor* has nothing to do with default judgments. It is inapposite here and instead addressed challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence on a motion for a directed verdict. 87 Wn.2d at 533.

In *Rasor*, this Court examined a jury award and stated that while noneconomic damages did not need to be proven with "mathematical certainty," "all awards must be supported by competent evidence." *Id.* at 531 (quoting *Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc.*, 418 U.S. 323, 350, 94 S. Ct. 2997, 3012, 41 L. Ed. 2d 789 (1974)) (internal quotations omitted). The import of

Rasor is that a jury award must be in "the range of substantial evidence in the record." *Id.* (citation omitted).

Here, however, there was no jury award at issue, but rather a default judgment. Regardless, like *Little*, *Rasor* stands for the unremarkable and axiomatic proposition that a damages award—no matter the context—must be supported by sufficient evidence even though noneconomic damages by nature are difficult to define and not subject to mechanical calculation. The Court of Appeals recognized this and its decision that Plaintiffs' proffered evidence was legally insufficient is harmonious with *Rasor* and other Washington precedent.

The Court of Appeals did not require from Plaintiffs "proof of a specific [actual dollar value] for general damages" as Plaintiffs wrongly contend. Rather, in line with *Rasor* and *Little*, the Court of Appeals merely required legally sufficient evidence to support the damages award and found Plaintiffs' evidence insufficient. It did not focus on "evidence which assigns an *actual dollar value* to the injury."

Rather, it focused on the void of evidence presented, holding the following evidence was not "substantial evidence" sufficient to support the noneconomic damages award: (1) medical bills of \$26,067.79; (2) possible future scar revision surgery estimated \$8,500 to \$10,000; and (3) speculative hearsay about six vague settlements by Plaintiffs' counsel brokered in *other* litigations with *different* facts and circumstances (i.e., comparing apples and oranges). The holding is in an entirely different context and posture than the jury award in *Rasor*, and even if *Rasor* had some bearing in this case, the Court of Appeals' decision is perfectly aligned with Rasor by requiring "competent evidence" to support the damages award. Whether called "competent evidence" or "substantial evidence," the bedrock principle of Rasor and Little is the same: damages must be supported by sufficient evidence and not speculation and conjecture. Here, the Court of Appeals held Plaintiffs proffered insufficient evidence. Far from requiring "mathematical precision," the Court of Appeals simply found that "[g]iven a conclusive defense of legally

insufficient supporting evidence, it was an abuse of discretion not to vacate the award of noneconomic damages." *Evans*, 523 P.3d at 883, ¶66.

Lastly, the Court of Appeals certainly did not create any new evidentiary "requirement" of witness testimony, as Plaintiffs incorrectly assert. It simply said witness testimony is one of many ways to sufficiently support a damages award. Nor did it alter in any way the existing sufficiency of the evidence requirement for default judgments. Instead, it applied existing law on the sufficiency of evidence to the facts in this case, holding that here "[a] declaration from [an attorney] offer[ing] allegations and conclusory statements in support of her opinion" as to the amount of damages she obtained in other prior settlements is just that: "her speculative opinion." Evans, 523 P.3d at 883, ¶65. Even if *Rasor* pertained to default judgments, trial courts do not need "guidance" from this Court on settled law of requisite substantial evidence. Regardless, the "need" for "guidance" standard Plaintiffs invent is not the real

standard for this Court to accept review. Plaintiffs' request for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) fails.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Raise An Issue of Substantial Public Interest

The Court of Appeals' decision does not raise an issue of public interest, let alone the *substantial* public interest required to justify review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).² "[T]he circumstances of the particular case dictate" the Court's analysis and the outcome when determining whether a default judgment should be set aside. *White*, 73 Wn.2d at 352; *accord Little*, 160 Wn.2d at 703. The Court of Appeals applied the well-established precedent of *Little*, *White*, *Shepard*, and *Calhoun* to the unique circumstances of this case, holding that the trial court abused its discretion by not vacating the noneconomic damages portion of

² Cf, e.g., Matter of Williams, 197 Wn.2d 1001, 484 P.3d 445 (2021) (Granting review and holding that "[t]he chaos wrought by COVID-19 at the Coyote Ridge [Correctional Center] heavily affected correctional facilities, and the [Washington State Department of Corrections'] efforts in responding to this constantly changing threat, constitutes an ongoing issue of substantial public interest within the meaning of RAP 13.4(b)(4)"); Matter of Arnold, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091 (2017) (granting review and holding that "the adoption of a horizontal stare decisis rule is an issue of substantial public interest that merits this court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).")

the default judgment because it was not supported by substantial evidence.

This very narrow holding—where the Court of Appeals also affirmed the liability portion of the judgment and amount of special damages—has no impact or application beyond this case and the individual parties, let alone an impact on a broader, substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals simply applied existing law to the unique facts of this case and held that Plaintiffs' proffered evidence of noneconomic damages was legally insufficient. Its holding is limited to the facts of this particular case. Nor do Plaintiffs make any showing (or even suggest) that this issue is likely to arise or repeat in future cases on different facts.

From a public interest standpoint, the holding furthers the long-established policy disfavoring default judgments and favoring the resolution of controversies "on the merits rather than by default." *Little*, 160 Wn.2d at 703 (citations omitted); *Morin v. Burris*, 160 Wn.2d 745, 754, 161 P.3d 956 (2007). The Court of Appeals acknowledged that policy, noting that

"[a]n abuse of discretion is more readily found when the trial court *denies* a trial on the merits than when a judgment is set aside and a trial is had." *Evans*, 523 P.3d at 877, ¶28 (emphasis in the original) (citing *White*, 73 Wn.2d at 351-52). Vacating a default judgment with unsupported noneconomic damages entered without a hearing or scrutiny and then ignored again by trial court on a motion to vacate does not raise an issue of substantial public interest. (Nor do Plaintiffs provide any reason to think these unique circumstances would ever arise again, let alone arise regularly enough to elevate this to an issue of substantial public importance).

Plaintiffs overread the Court of Appeals' decision and conflate the issue here with the separate circumstance of courts analyzing jury verdicts for substantial evidence to argue an issue of substantial public interest exists. *See* Pet. for Rev. at 13, 18-19. Plaintiffs are wrong.

The Court of Appeals' discussion of a prima facie
defense to non-economic damages in the default judgment
context (as recognized in *Shepard* and endorsed in *Little*) makes

only a passing reference to CR 50, which allows judgment as a matter of law "where there is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find or have found for that party with respect to that issue." *Evans*, 523 P.3d at 880-81, ¶49, n.5 (quoting *Coogan v. Borg-Warner Morse Tec Inc.*, 197 Wn.2d 790, 812, 490 P.3d 200 (2021). The Court of Appeals did not rely on CR 50 or case law regarding whether to set aside jury verdicts in reaching its narrow holding on a default judgment. Plaintiffs misread and mischaracterize the Court of Appeals' analysis and decision in an effort to concoct an issue of "substantial public interest."

Instead, the Court of Appeals correctly applied "CR 55 and the case law construing it," heeding this Court's advice in *Little* that "[t]he fact that a default judgment was entered without the court independently assessing the evidence is a factor that weighs in favor of allowing a trial on the merits." *Evans*, 523 P.3d at 881, ¶¶51-52 (citing *Little*, 160 Wn.2d at 724). It then correctly noted that "[b]ecause no hearing was held [by the trial court on Plaintiffs' motion for default

judgment], the shortcomings in the written submissions were never compensated for by testimony." *Id.* at 883, ¶64.

This discussion of vacating default judgments certainly does not mean—as Plaintiffs incorrectly suggest—that the Court of Appeals imposed a "new requirement" for "plaintiffs in jury trials." Pet. for Rev. at 25. Rather, the Court of Appeals merely held that Plaintiffs failed to provide *any* evidence to compensate for "shortcomings" in the insufficient showing they made to support a default judgment on noneconomic damages or explain "why the \$750,000 and \$50,000 would be reasonable measures of R.A.C.'s and Ms. Evans's noneconomic damages." *Evans*, 523 P.3d at 883, ¶65.

Lastly, Plaintiffs then spends pages arguing that they did present "substantial evidence" to support the noneconomic damages award. They did not, as the Court of Appeals correctly explained, but regardless, simply disagreeing with the Court of Appeals' outcome after it applied the proper law to the facts is no basis for this Court to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The Court of Appeals simply applied established evidentiary standards to the unique facts of this case and Plaintiffs are displeased with the outcome. The Court of Appeals did not announce new or contradictory rules and its decision has no implication beyond this case. Vacating the unsubstantiated noneconomic damages portion of a default judgment for a trial on the merits is not an issue of substantial public interest warranting review.

IV. CONCLUSION

Review by this Court of the Court of Appeals' decision is not warranted under either RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (4). The Court of Appeals acknowledged and followed this Court's existing precedent and correctly applied it, and its narrow holding on the facts and equities of this case does not raise an issue of substantial public interest. The decision is also harmonious with the long-established policy disfavoring default judgments and favoring resolution of cases on the merits. The Court of Appeals' decision fairly and justly gives each party their day in court: it gives Plaintiffs a second opportunity to prove and

substantiate their alleged damages, and Mr. Firl an opportunity to defend against the same, as he always wanted to do. This Court should therefore deny Plaintiffs' Petition for Review so this case can be resolved on the merits.

I certify that this Answer contains 4,389 words pursuant to RAP 18.17.